



University Medical Center Groningen

University of Groningen

Sgoldstino-less inflation and low energy SUSY breaking

Argurio, Riccardo; Coone, Dries; Heurtier, Lucien; Mariotti, Alberto

Published in: Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

DOI: 10.1088/1475-7516/2017/07/047

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Early version, also known as pre-print

Publication date: 2017

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Argurio, R., Coone, D., Heurtier, L., & Mariotti, A. (2017). Sgoldstino-less inflation and low energy SUSY breaking. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2017(7), [047]. https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2017/07/047

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

ULB-TH/17-08

Sgoldstino-less inflation and low energy SUSY breaking

Riccardo Argurio,^a Dries Coone,^{b,c} Lucien Heurtier^d and Alberto Mariotti^b

^a Physique Théorique et Mathématique and International Solvay Institutes, Université Libre de Bruxelles, CP231, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium

^c Van Swinderen Institute for Particle Physics and Gravity, University of Groningen, Nijenborgh 4, 9747 AG Groningen, The Netherlands

^dService de Physique Théorique, Université Libre de Bruxelles, CP225, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium E-mail: rargurio@ulb.ac.be, a.a.coone@rug.nl,

lucien.heurtier@ulb.ac.be, alberto.mariotti@vub.ac.be

ABSTRACT: We assess the range of validity of sgoldstino-less inflation in a scenario of low energy supersymmetry breaking. We first analyze the consistency conditions that an effective theory of the inflaton and goldstino superfields should satisfy in order to be faithfully described by a sgoldstino-less model. Enlarging the scope of previous studies, we investigate the case where the effective field theory cut-off, and hence also the soldstino mass, are inflaton-dependent. We then introduce a UV complete model where one can realize successfully soldstino-less inflation and gauge mediation of supersymmetry breaking, combining the α -attractor mechanism and a weakly coupled model of spontaneous breaking of supersymmetry. In this class of models we find that, given current limits on superpartner masses, the gravitino mass has a lower bound of the order of the MeV, i.e. we cannot reach very low supersymmetry breaking scales. On the plus side, we recognize that in this framework, one can derive the complete superpartner spectrum as well as compute inflation observables, the reheating temperature, and address the gravitino overabundance problem. We then show that further constraints come from collider results and inflation observables. Their non trivial interplay seems a staple feature of phenomenological studies of supersymmetric inflationary models.

^b Theoretische Natuurkunde and IIHE/ELEM, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, and International Solvay Institutes, Pleinlaan 2, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium

Contents

1	Introduction		1
2	Effe	ective field theory for sgoldstino-less inflation	4
	2.1	Consistency conditions	6
3	An illustrative model		7
	3.1	Definition of the model	7
	3.2	EFT validity analysis	8
	3.3	α -attractor inflation	10
	3.4	Remarks on chaotic inflation	11
4	UV completion and mediation of SUSY breaking		13
	4.1	No tachyons in the messenger sector	14
	4.2	Integrating out the messengers	16
	4.3	Low-energy spectrum and gauge mediation	17
	4.4	Analysis of the allowed parameter space	19
5	Phenomenological analysis		22
	5.1	Reheating temperature and n_s	23
	5.2	Gravitino abundance	25
	5.3	BBN	28
	5.4	Combination of the cosmological and LHC constraints	28
6	Discussion		31
A Analysis of sgoldstino VEV and EFT validity			32

1 Introduction

Recently there has been renewed interest in models of inflation in supergravity [1-15]. The inflationary paradigm for the very early universe is indeed supported by more and more experimental evidence, and the high energy scales that it naturally involves beg for its embedding in supergravity, as a first step towards a more complete quantum treatment in string theory models.

A technical new result that has sparked much of the recent activity is the formulation of supergravity theories with non-linearly realized supersymmetry, the so called nilpotent supergravity [16–18], which makes crucial use of the nilpotent (goldstino) superfield to implement supersymmetry breaking [19–23]. This new formulation has been shown to be able to accomodate effortlessly models of single field inflation in supergravity with (at first sight) an arbitrarily low scale of supersymmetry breaking in the vacuum. In such models, indeed, an idealistic decoupling of the sgoldstino degrees of freedom is assumed (encoded by the nilpotency condition), which otherwise interact non-trivially with the inflaton. Technically speaking, the use of constrained superfields thus appears to drastically simplify inflationary models.¹

We immediately see that there is a potential tension in this perspective. This is related to the energy scales that are involved in the problem, namely those of inflation, of supersymmetry breaking and of its mediation to the visible sector (the latter two are typically distinct, except in a handful of strongly coupled models). In other words, one might be worried that the cut-off scale of the sgoldstino-less effective field theory might fall below the scale of the physics that it is supposed to describe, i.e. inflation.

In [32] a class of UV complete models characterized by a fixed scale was considered. It was shown that requiring the UV completion not to spoil the inflationary dynamics (i.e. for a nilpotent effective description to be viable) imposes stringent restrictions on the parameters of the model. Eventually, the supersymmetry breaking scale turns out to be quite large, very close to the scale one would expect in gravity mediated models.

In this paper, we investigate whether it is possible to construct more general UV complete models of inflation (which mimic sgoldstino-less inflation) with a low supersymmetry breaking scale after inflation. Our proposal is to consider the scale of the UV complete model as being inflaton-dependent. The implementation is done by positing a connection between the inflationary sector and the hidden sector responsible for generating the supersymmetry breaking in the MSSM through e.g. gauge mediation (GMSB) [33], realizing a unifying framework for inflation and low energy supersymmetry breaking.²

We consider models of inflation where the field breaking supersymmetry plays the role of the stabilizer, while the inflaton field is not directly involved in the determination of the supersymmetry breaking vacuum in the hidden sector. The latter is typically characterized by some messengers whose supersymmetric mass sets the scale of (gauge)

¹Models where the soldstino itself is the inflaton exist [24–27], though it has been more popular to consider an inflaton superfield together with a stabilizer superfield [28], which can cure most of the problems of SUGRA inflation, and/or together with a supersymmetry breaking sector [29–31].

²There are models where the inflaton resides directly into the hidden sector [34–39], though there seem to be difficulties in getting towards low supersymmetry breaking scales.

mediation. In our scenario the inflaton couples directly to these messenger fields. Thanks to this interaction, the messengers get large inflaton dependent masses during inflation, while their masses at the end of inflation can be small, and hence typical gauge mediation can occur.

The interest of this comprehensive approach is that the inflaton sector, as well as the MSSM superparticle spectrum and couplings can be completely specified. First, we find that the consistency of the theory implies that the scale of supersymmetry breaking can be in the regime suitable for gauge mediation to dominate, though in our class of weakly coupled models it is still not possible to access the lowest scales without dragging the superpartner masses to unacceptably small values.

Moreover, one can then address issues associated to the reheating and the dynamics after inflation, for instance the gravitino overabundance problem, and relate them to the expected superpartner spectrum. In such a framework the experimental constraints from cosmology, like the number of e-folds and the values of r and n_s , can be supplemented with experimental constraints from collider physics, for instance the gluino mass bound from LHC. With some simplifying assumptions we will actually show that this combined investigation can reduce significantly the allowed parameter space of an inflationary model, leading to predictions for both inflation observables and for the superpartner spectrum. In particular, since the inflaton couples with the MSSM only through loops of heavy messenger fields, its decay width is small and hence the reheating temperature is generically quite low. This implies that the spectral tilt n_s will be on the low end of the window compatible with experimental data.

In section 2 we review basics of sgoldstino-less models for inflation and we introduce the generic consistency conditions that this class of theories should satisfy. In section 3 we introduce our illustrative model, where the inflationary dynamics is governed by the α -attractor mechanism [40–44]. We revisit the α -attractor predictions and we discuss the regime of validity of the effective field theory (EFT) approximation in this concrete example. (Some more details are in Appendix A.) In section 4 we introduce a possible UV completion of the illustrative model, based on a supersymmetry breaking sector with gauge mediation. We first analyze the consistency conditions of the UV theory and recover bounds compatible with those discussed in the EFT analysis. In section 5 we perform a phenomenological analysis of the model. We compute the reheating temperature and implement bounds from the gravitino overabundance problem, Big Bang nucleosynthesis and LHC constraints. Finally, we conclude in section 6.

2 Effective field theory for sgoldstino-less inflation

Sgoldstino-less models of inflation [1-15] are characterized by the presence of a nilpotent chiral superfield $S^2 = 0$ [19–23], i.e. the goldstino superfield, responsible for spontaneous supersymmetry breaking and another chiral superfield Φ whose imaginary component (in our conventions) is the inflaton field, which exhibits a shift symmetry in order to make its potential viable for inflation [28]. The nilpotency condition corresponds to the fact that the scalar component of the chiral superfield S, i.e. the sgoldstino, has been integrated out. The theory with the nilpotent superfield (and potentially with other constrained superfields) is then interpreted as an effective field theory valid up to the energy scale of the sgoldstino.

In this section, our aim is to take a step back and write an effective field theory (EFT) which includes the sgoldstino, but where we can estimate its mass and follow its decoupling at low energies. The sgoldstino gets its mass through non renormalizable operators in the Kähler potential, which can be for instance generated perturbatively in a weakly coupled UV completion. Such physics can be simply captured in a class of models of inflation in supergravity which is characterized by a few arbitrary functions. We take the following Kähler and superpotential

$$K = \mathcal{K}(\Phi, \Phi^{\dagger}) + SS^{\dagger} - \frac{(SS^{\dagger})^2}{\Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2}$$
(2.1)

$$W = f(\Phi)S + M_p h(\Phi) \tag{2.2}$$

In these expressions the Kähler potential for Φ typically respects a shift symmetry which makes it independent of the imaginary component, to be eventually identified with the inflaton field. It can be typically non canonical with Planck scale corrections, reducing to a canonical form when the lowest component ϕ is small, i.e. after inflation. $f(\Phi)$ and $h(\Phi)$ are arbitrary functions of the inflaton field and can include higher dimensional operators typically suppressed by the Planck scale. They determine the scalar potential for the inflaton and hence should be chosen properly in order to have a viable single-field inflationary dynamics and a (meta)-stable vacuum at the end of inflation. Moreover, these functions have to be tuned in order to obtain a vanishing(ly small) cosmological constant in the vacuum at the end of inflation.

The shift symmetry of the Kähler potential for Φ guarantees that the scalar potential for the imaginary part of ϕ does not have an exponential growth during inflation. On the other hand in order to generate a potential to drive inflation, the shift symmetry should be broken. The proposal in [28] is to introduce a massive term in $f(\Phi)$ to break the shift symmetry softly. It is also possible to break the shift symmetry directly in the Kähler potential, as long as it is still an approximate symmetry. The validity of the sgoldstino-less description is controlled by the sgoldstino mass, which is ϕ dependent

$$m_s^2 = \frac{4|f(\phi)|^2}{\Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2}$$
 (2.3)

The fermionic component of S is the goldstino and it is massless. It is eaten by the gravitino which then acquires the following mass

$$m_{3/2} \simeq \frac{|W|}{M_p^2}$$
 (2.4)

Note that the soldstino mass depends on another scale setting the validity of this effective theory which is Λ_{eff} . By definition of EFT, this scale must be larger than m_s . One should then wonder what is the typical size of Λ_{eff} with respect to the Planck scale and how such a non-renormalizable operator is generated in a UV completion of the theory. If $\Lambda_{\text{eff}} \sim M_p$ the simplest interpretation is that this quartic operator arises from Planck scale physics. If instead $\Lambda_{\text{eff}} \ll M_p$ then one is necessarily integrating over some physics below the Planck scale and the operator leading to the soldstino mass can be typically interpreted as the leading term in a series of higher dimensional corrections to the Kähler potential suppressed by powers of Λ_{eff} .

In the first case, the soldstino mass at the end of inflation will scale as $\frac{f_0}{M_p}$, where $f_0 \equiv f(0)$. In order for this scalar to be decoupled from SM physics we should demand its mass to be larger than roughly a TeV. This automatically sets f_0 , the scale of supersymmetry breaking at the end of inflation, to be large, and poses the model in a scenario where the gravity mediated contribution to the MSSM soft terms, also scaling as $\frac{f_0}{M_p}$, are sizable. Actually, if $\Lambda_{\text{eff}} \sim M_p$, in the vacuum the gravitino mass turns out to be of the same size as m_s .

In the second case, the sgoldstino mass is given by $\frac{f_0}{\Lambda_{\text{eff}}} \gg \frac{f_0}{M_p}$. Then f_0 can be small keeping m_s sizeable, and SUSY breaking can be mediated to the MSSM via gauge interactions, with gravity mediated effects subleading. In this paper we are interested in the second case, and hence we are immediately facing questions associated to the validity of the effective theory at very high scales and the role played by Λ_{eff} . In [32] the authors discussed issues associated to UV completions of sgoldstino-less models and found that a viable scenario needs an effective scale Λ_{eff} of at most one order of magnitude smaller than the Planck scale. Here we discuss systematically the consistency conditions that we expect the effective theory to satisfy, and we propose a strategy to realize models of inflation with low supersymmetry breaking scale at the end of inflation.

2.1 Consistency conditions

Let us start with identifying the consistency conditions that the effective theory in (2.1) should satisfy. The idea is, again, that the EFT should be in its regime of validity at the energy scales of the physics that one is describing, that is during and after inflation. Hence, these conditions must be satisfied along the entire inflaton trajectory, from Planckian values to the origin:

$$m_s^2 \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2$$
, $\langle s \rangle \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}$. (2.5)

These two conditions are necessary to have a well defined effective theory for S. Observe that all quantities appearing in these conditions should be intended as functions of the inflaton VEV. The first condition in (2.5) is easily translated into the constraint

$$f(\phi) \ll \Lambda_{\rm eff}^2 , \qquad (2.6)$$

The second condition in (2.5) is involved and requires the study of the sgoldstino VEV along the entire inflaton trajectory.

Note that strictly speaking, an EFT such as (2.1) treats differently Φ and S, in the sense that integrating out the physics at Λ_{eff} affects the Kähler potential of S, while the one of Φ is more generally determined by Planck scale physics. Nevertheless, we can conservatively ask that also the degrees of freedom of Φ , at least after inflation, are within the regime of validity of the EFT of S:

$$m_{\phi}^2 \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2$$
 . (2.7)

Besides these consistency conditions, in order to guarantee that inflation is driven by a single field (or equivalently, that the goldstino superfield is nilpotent at that time), we should demand that during inflation the sgoldstino is heavier than the typical scale, i.e. the Hubble scale, hence

$$m_s^2|_{\text{infl}} \gg H^2|_{\text{infl}} . \tag{2.8}$$

On the other hand this translates simply to

$$\Lambda_{\rm eff} \ll M_p \ , \tag{2.9}$$

where we assume a potential dominated by $|f(\phi)|^2$. We thus see that having a scale for new physics lower than the Planck scale is actually a requirement for contemplating the decoupling of the sgoldstino from inflation.

Note that generically the effective scale Λ_{eff} can be a function of the inflaton field, varying along the inflationary trajectory. This is a promising possibility since a function

 $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\phi)$ increasing with ϕ implies that the validity threshold of the effective theory grows with increasing ϕ . Note that a ϕ dependent Λ_{eff} would introduce a new source of shift symmetry breaking, which should be controlled by a small parameter.

In the next section we will study the implications of the consistency conditions on the effective field theory with dynamical $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ in a simple model. We will then provide a UV completion which generates such effective theory.

3 An illustrative model

3.1 Definition of the model

The lagrangian we will consider in this section is of the form

$$K = -3\frac{\alpha}{2}M_p^2 \log\left(\frac{(M_p^2 - \Phi\Phi^{\dagger})^2}{(M_p^2 + \Phi^2)(M_p^2 + \Phi^{\dagger}^2)}\right) + SS^{\dagger} - \frac{(SS^{\dagger})^2}{\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)^2} , \qquad (3.1)$$
$$W = f(\Phi)S + M_p h(\Phi) ,$$

where the scale Λ_{eff} is, as announced above, promoted to be a function of the inflaton field value during inflation. The choice of a non minimal form for the Kähler potential (following the so-called α -attractor set up [40–44]) for the inflaton Φ will allow us to reach much better observables while keeping polynomial and independent the functions f and h, which will show some importance later on.

The three different functions introduced above will be taken of the form

$$f(\Phi) = f_0 - \frac{m_f}{M_p} \Phi^2, \quad h(\Phi) = h_0 - \frac{m_h}{M_p} \Phi^2,$$
 (3.2)

and

$$\Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2(\Phi) = |\Lambda_0 + g\Phi|^2 \,. \tag{3.3}$$

In this situation, $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2(\Phi)$ will take large values during inflation (where $\text{Im}(\Phi) \sim M_p$) and fall down to lower values when Φ rolls down its potential.

Several remarks should be made about the structure of the Kähler potential in (3.1). For field values much smaller than the Planck scale, the α -attractor Kähler potential is a canonical one (for $\alpha = 1/3$) exhibiting a shift symmetry for Im(Φ). The non-renormalizable term for S suppressed by $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ is instead a non canonical term, whose Φ dependence introduces an extra source of breaking of the shift symmetry. Henceforth we consider $g \ll 1$ such that the breaking of the shift symmetry is small. Moreover, the scale $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ represents the mass scale where we expect new physical states. Hence we observe that we cannot explore regions where $\text{Re}(\Phi) = -\frac{\Lambda_0}{g}$ since in

this locus the Kähler potential becomes singular, corresponding to some states in the UV completion of the model that become massless.

As already stated, in taking into account corrections to the Kähler potential in Eq. (3.1), somehow we are considering on different footing the inflaton superfield Φ and the sgoldstino superfield. The assumption is that the α -attractor type potential is set by Planck scale physics, while the corrections to the sgoldstino are generated at a much smaller scale. This assumption is valid as soon as $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi) \ll M_p$, which we ensure by demanding $\Lambda_0 \ll M_p$ and $g \ll 1$. Note that $g \ll 1$ also ensures that condition (2.8) is satisfied.

The states at the scale $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ will also generically generate Kähler corrections for the field Φ , possibly mixing Φ and S. However, we keep only the corrections to the field S since the soldstino would be massless at tree level if not for such corrections, which are the leading terms generating a soldstino mass. In the case of the inflaton field Φ , possible Kähler corrections to its mass from physics at the scale $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ will be proportional to g and subleading with respect to the tree level terms. We will see how to generate the corrections to the Kähler potential in a UV complete theory in the next section, where also other terms (allowed by the symmetries) will be present, but will not change qualitatively the analysis of this section.

3.2 EFT validity analysis

We now proceed with the analysis of the scalar potential and the consistency conditions of the EFT description. Going to a real basis, one can define

$$\phi \equiv \frac{\chi + i\varphi}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad S \equiv \frac{s + i\sigma}{\sqrt{2}},$$
(3.4)

where due to the structure of the Kähler potential, φ will play the role of the inflaton in what follows. The absence of linear terms in a small field expansion in χ guarantees that the so called *sinflaton* is stabilized to zero VEV during the whole inflationary trajectory.

Assuming the validity of the effective formulation and that the stabilizer S acquires a sufficient mass during inflation, which will be checked a posteriori, one can derive the inflaton-dependent vev of the scalar s to be

$$\langle s \rangle = M_p \frac{(\varphi^2 - 2M_p^2)^2 f' h' + 24\alpha f h M_p^2}{6\sqrt{2}\alpha \left(-\frac{(\varphi^2 - 2M_p^2)^2}{12\alpha} (f'^2 + h'^2) + \frac{4f^2 M_p^4}{\Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2} - 2h^2 M_p^2 \right)},$$
 (3.5)

where a prime denotes a derivative with respect to the complex field Φ in (3.2), and the functions f, h and Λ_{eff} are all dependent on $\Phi = i \frac{\varphi}{\sqrt{2}}$ during inflation. In the vacuum at the end of inflation, where $\Phi = 0$, the cosmological constant can be removed by imposing that

$$V(\varphi = 0) = 0,$$
 (3.6)

which is equivalent to fixing

$$h_0^2 = \frac{f_0^2}{3} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\Lambda_0^2}{M_p^2}) \right) .$$
 (3.7)

Note that in this vacuum $\langle s \rangle \propto \Lambda_0^2/M_p$, i.e. it is of the same order as the corrections to the above relation. In addition, the physical mass of the inflaton m_{φ} is given by the parameter $2m_h$, whereas the gravitino mass (2.4) will fall down at the end of inflation to $f_0/\sqrt{3}M_p$.

The vacuum at vanishing Φ is not a global minimum. Indeed, there is a supersymmetric vacuum in field space where the sinflaton gets a VEV of order $\sqrt{\frac{f_0 M_p}{m_f}}$. One therefore has to ensure that there are no tachyonic directions about the extremum. We find that the stability of the non supersymmetric vacuum in the sinflaton direction imposes the constraint³

$$m_h^2 > \frac{3\alpha f_0 m_f}{2M_p}$$
 (3.8)

The inflationary trajectory spans the space of $\text{Im}(\Phi)$ with $\text{Re}(\Phi) = \text{Im}(S) = 0$ while the real part of the soldstino is given by equation (3.5). We should follow the inflationary trajectory in the $\varphi - s$ space in order to verify that the conditions listed in the previous sections (and the absence of tachyons) are satisfied.⁴

The simple conditions (2.6) and (2.7) are translated in the following constraints

$$f_0 < \Lambda_0^2$$
, $\frac{m_f}{M_p} < g^2$, $m_h < \Lambda_0$. (3.9)

We note that the coupling g is crucial to keep the soldstino mass within the validity of the effective theory. We will see how these bounds correspond typically to no-tachyon conditions in explicit UV completions of the model.

The third condition advocated in Section 2 is

$$\langle s \rangle \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$$
 (3.10)

³Using the approximate formula $S_{\text{bounce}} \propto (\Delta \phi)^4 / \Delta V$, a qualitative estimate of the tunneling rate into the SUSY vacuum indicates that the metastable vacuum is sufficiently long-lived for the typical range of parameters that we will consider.

⁴We will not address the issue of the initial conditions here, rather we will assume the inflaton starts rolling at Planckian VEVs.

and it is quite involved to solve analytically given the different terms entering into the expression for the sgoldstino VEV (3.5). In Appendix A we perform a simplified analysis of this VEV and we find that imposing the following inequalities

$$f_0 \ll \frac{\Lambda_0^2 m_f}{M_p} , \qquad \frac{\Lambda_0^2}{M_p^2} \ll \frac{m_h}{m_f} , \qquad \frac{\Lambda_0}{M_p} \gg \frac{m_h}{m_f} , \qquad (3.11)$$

one is guaranteed that the sgoldstino VEV is within the validity of the EFT along the whole inflationary trajectory.⁵

To conclude, we find that in the model (3.1) the EFT is consistent all along inflation if the conditions (3.8), (3.9) and (3.11) are satisfied. Note that the last condition in (3.11) leads automatically to $m_h \ll m_f$. This implies that during inflation, when the inflaton takes field values of order M_p , the parameter m_f dominates the scalar potential and hence sets the scale of inflation. The mass of the inflaton at the end of inflation is instead controlled by m_h , which is a different (and much smaller) scale.

3.3 α -attractor inflation

During inflation, the potential will be dominated by the mass scale m_f which will be fixed by the cosmological observables. Indeed, in an expansion for small parameters f_0 , m_h and Λ_0 , the effective potential during inflation is, at leading order

$$V_{\rm inf} \approx \frac{m_f^2}{4M_p^2} \varphi^4 \,. \tag{3.12}$$

However, due to the non-canonical Kähler potential, we have to normalize the inflaton using

$$\varphi \equiv \sqrt{2} \tanh\left[\frac{\tilde{\varphi}}{\sqrt{6\alpha}M_p}\right].$$
 (3.13)

As usual in α -attractor scenarios [40–45], one can use the COBE normalization and the slow roll conditions to extract the values of n_s , r and m_f as a function of α and the number of e-folds, denoted N. We here focus on the case of the quartic power potential as in (3.12). Moreover, in order to provide analytic expressions, we can consider N to be large and expand the relevant quantities in powers of 1/N.

⁵Other valid regions in parameter space exist, but we found that this is the only one that survives the more stringent bounds of the weakly coupled UV completion that we will consider in the next section.

The inflation observables n_s and r at second order in this expansion and in slow roll are [46]

$$n_s = 1 - \frac{2}{N} + \frac{1}{N^2} \left(\frac{4}{3} - 2C + \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \rho - 3 \right) \right), \tag{3.14}$$

$$r = \frac{12\alpha}{N^2} \left(1 + \frac{1}{N} \left(2C - \frac{1}{12} (8 + 3\alpha\rho) \right) \right), \qquad \rho = \sqrt{9 + \frac{48}{\alpha}} , \qquad (3.15)$$

where $C = \gamma_E + \log(2) - 2$ and γ_E is the Euler constant. Notice that for $\alpha = 1$ these relations, at first order in 1/N, reproduce the Starobinsky and the Higgs inflation model, though the second order term is different [47].

Moreover, the COBE normalisation $A_s = (24\pi^2 M_p^4)^{-1} V/\epsilon_* \approx 2.2 \cdot 10^{-9}$ can be used to fix

$$m_f^2 = A_s \frac{18\alpha \pi^2}{N^2} M_p^2, \qquad (3.16)$$

where we expanded m_f only to first order in 1/N since we do not require additional accuracy.

The predictions for the α -attractor model with quartic potential is displayed in Fig. 1 for different choices of α and of the number of e-folds N. In Section 5, once we will have specified the UV completion, we will compute the reheating temperature and derive the expected number of e-folds. One can observe that anyway the required values of m_f stand between $10^{-6}M_p$ and $10^{-4}M_p$, the lowest values being favoured for $\alpha = 1/3$.

Note that generically for small numbers of e-folds one can obtain from the α -attractor models values of n_s which are in the low-end region of the allowed Planck contours.

3.4 Remarks on chaotic inflation

Before proceeding to analyse a UV completion of this model, we would like to make a few remarks about the consequences of the consistency conditions identified in this section for other inflation models. In particular we would like to assess if nilpotent chaotic inflation (i.e. with a quadratic inflaton potential) can be consistently realized since, even if it is disfavored by recent measurements of the tensor-to-scalar ratio r[48–50], it could represent a minimal application of the nilpotent paradigm.

The most economical possibility would be to consider a shift symmetric Kähler potential $\mathcal{K} = \frac{1}{2}(\Phi + \Phi^{\dagger})^2$ and a quadratic expression for $h(\Phi)$, with $h''(\Phi)$ setting the scale of inflation. In order for the stabilization of the scalar potential to be effective at large field values, one should choose $f(\Phi)$ properly. For instance, further requiring the



Figure 1. Inflation observables for α -attractor models using different values of the α parameter and number of e-folds. The color bar indicates the value of m_f (in units of M_p) required for satisfying the COBE normalization measurement. The shaded region indicates the values favoured by the Planck collaboration at 1 and 2 σ [48].

cosmological constant in the vacuum to be zero restricts to the choice $f(\Phi) = \sqrt{3}h(\Phi)$ [2, 51, 52].

This immediately leads to two important issues. First consider the case in which Λ_{eff} is a constant independent on the inflaton VEV. Then the requirement $f(\phi) \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2$ already puts strong constraints on the allowed values for Λ_{eff} . For instance, if $f(\phi)$ is a quadratic function, i.e. $f(x) = f_0 - \frac{m_f}{M_p} x^2$, then we automatically obtain $\frac{m_f}{M_p} \phi^2 \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}^2$. For chaotic inflation, which needs large m_f and reaches transplanckian values of ϕ , this implies a severe lower bound for Λ_{eff} , as explained in [32].

Second, one can consider the possibility of a dynamical Λ_{eff} , as we assumed in our illustrative model. Note that the derivation of the soldstino VEV and the EFT analysis would be only mildly changed, since the Kähler attractor potential reduces to the canonical shift symmetric one for small values of ϕ and $\alpha = 1/3$. In particular, the conditions (3.11) should still be fulfilled. If $m_h \sim m_f$ the third condition in (3.11) would imply $\Lambda_0 \gg M_p$ which is not possible. Said differently, the soldstino VEV would exceed the limit of the EFT validity if $m_h \sim m_f$, rendering the EFT description, with its truncation at quartic order in S, inconsistent.

A very careful different choice of the functions $f(\Phi)$, $h(\Phi)$ and $\Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ could possibly overcome these issues, however we consider them as a sufficient motivation to forgo chaotic inflation and prefer to work with the α -attractor scenario.

4 UV completion and mediation of SUSY breaking

We now consider a UV completion of the effective model whose aim is two-fold. We add extra fields which, upon integrating them out, produce the effective quartic term in S, and at the same time act as mediators of supersymmetry breaking to the standard model. As our goal is to achieve scales of SUSY breaking which are rather low, we set ourselves in a gauge mediation scenario [33], so that the extra fields can be taken to be the usual messengers, charged under the SM gauge group.

As is customary in GMSB, it is better to actually take the messengers to be in representations of a grand unified group, SU(5) being the minimal choice. Messengers come in vectorial representations, and the simplest option is to have one or more copies of $\mathbf{5} \oplus \overline{\mathbf{5}}$.

We thus introduce the fields X and Y in the 5, and \tilde{X} and \tilde{Y} in the $\bar{5}$, and we consider a generalized O'Raifeartaigh model which is equivalent to the effective IR description of the theory considered in [53].

In the rigid limit $M_p \to \infty$, we assume a canonical Kähler potential for all the fields (inflaton Φ included, which is indeed what one gets in this limit from (3.1) for $\alpha = 1/3$), and a superpotential

$$W = -m_h \Phi^2 + f_0 S - \lambda_f S \Phi^2 + \lambda S X \tilde{X} + (M + g_f \Phi) (X \tilde{Y} + Y \tilde{X}) + m_y Y \tilde{Y} .$$
(4.1)

Let us comment on the various terms. If we set $\Phi = 0$ and $m_y = 0$, we have a complexified version of the usual O'Raifeartaigh model, with S playing the role of the superfield with a non-vanishing F-term, a classical flat direction and the Goldstino as fermionic component. Its coupling to the messengers λ can be taken to be typically $\mathcal{O}(1)$. Turning on the term with m_y breaks R-symmetry and thus allows for gauge mediation to generate non-zero gaugino masses, as shown in [53].

Bringing now the inflaton into the game, the crucial term is the one with g_f , which couples Φ to all the messengers and, more importantly, makes their mass inflatondependent. The last two terms involving m_h and $\lambda_f = m_f/M_p$ will not be important for the physics of SUSY breaking. Note that, if we assume that the term with m_h preserves R-symmetry, then both g_f and λ_f break it, and should be taken to be small. Indeed, λ_f can be assumed to take its value between 10^{-6} and 10^{-4} as in the previous section.⁶

Since W breaks R-symmetry for generic couplings, we expect to have SUSY vacua. However, if the R-symmetry breaking terms are small enough, we also expect the SUSY breaking vacuum near the origin to survive as a long-lived metastable state. We anticipate that the latter state will be obtained as follows: one sets all the messenger fields and the inflaton to zero, and then computes the effective potential for S. There is generically a local minimum near the origin which becomes a global minimum if one takes $m_y, g_f, \lambda_f \to 0$. The SUSY vacua (i.e. solutions to the F-term equations descending from W above) occur either for parametrically large non-zero values of the messenger fields, i.e. outside the domain of validity of the effective low-energy theory where the messengers have been integrated out, or for large sinflaton VEVs. It is indeed possible to check that the SUSY vacua are far enough from the inflationary trajectory in the $\Phi - S$ plane.

4.1 No tachyons in the messenger sector

First, we discuss the conditions for which there are no tachyons in the messenger sector, along the inflationary trajectory, i.e. around zero values of X, Y, \tilde{X} and \tilde{Y} . The potential, given by the sum of squared F-terms, is

$$V = |-2m_h \Phi - 2\lambda_f S \Phi + g_f (X\tilde{Y} + Y\tilde{X})|^2 + |f_0 - \lambda_f \Phi^2 - \lambda X\tilde{X}|^2 + |\lambda S X + (M + g_f \Phi)Y|^2 + |\lambda S \tilde{X} + (M + g_f \Phi)\tilde{Y}|^2 + |(M + g_f \Phi)X + m_y Y|^2 + |(M + g_f \Phi)\tilde{X} + m_y \tilde{Y}|^2 .$$
(4.2)

Expanded to quadratic order in the messenger fields (but to any order in S and Φ), we get

$$V = -2g_{f}\Phi^{*}(m_{h} + \lambda_{f}S^{*})(X\tilde{Y} + Y\tilde{X}) - 2g_{f}\Phi(m_{h} + \lambda_{f}S)(X^{*}\tilde{Y}^{*} + Y^{*}\tilde{X}^{*}) -\lambda(f_{0} - \lambda_{f}\Phi^{*2})X\tilde{X} - \lambda(f_{0} - \lambda_{f}\Phi^{2})X^{*}\tilde{X}^{*} +\lambda^{2}|S|^{2}(|X|^{2} + |\tilde{X}|^{2}) + |M + g_{f}\Phi|^{2}(|X|^{2} + |\tilde{X}|^{2} + |Y|^{2} + |\tilde{Y}|^{2}) + m_{y}^{2}(|Y|^{2} + |\tilde{Y}|^{2}) +\lambda S(M + g_{f}\Phi^{*})(XY^{*} + \tilde{X}\tilde{Y}^{*}) + \lambda S^{*}(M + g_{f}\Phi)(X^{*}Y + \tilde{X}^{*}\tilde{Y}) + m_{y}(M + g_{f}\Phi)(XY^{*} + \tilde{X}\tilde{Y}^{*}) + m_{y}(M + g_{f}\Phi^{*})(X^{*}Y + \tilde{X}^{*}\tilde{Y}) .$$
(4.3)

If we are to safely integrate out the messengers, we need to make sure that their squared mass matrix does not have negative eigenvalues, i.e. there are no tachyonic directions.

⁶At this point, note that W has also several terms that break the shift symmetry of the inflaton (i.e. the imaginary part of Φ). The only one specific to the UV completion is the one proportional to g_f , which then cannot take too large values.

When this is ensured, we will assume that the mass eigenvalues are dominated by the diagonal values (the third line in (4.3)).⁷ Thus in order to get a flavor of when tachyons could possibly arise, one can simply compare the off-diagonal terms to the diagonal ones.

First of all, we must exclude tachyons near the origin, that is for values of S and Φ subleading to any other scale. This is as in usual minimal GMSB, and we find

$$M^2 \gtrsim |\lambda f_0| , \qquad (4.4)$$

where we have also assumed that m_y is at most of the order of M (this is necessary in order not to bring the SUSY vacua too close to the origin in the messenger directions).

Going now to early times, at the beginning of the inflationary trajectory, we can assume $g_f \Phi \gg M$. In this regime the diagonal terms are all of the order of $g_f^2 \Phi^2$, while the off-diagonal terms are respectively of order $g_f \Phi(m_h + \lambda_f S)$, $\lambda \lambda_f \Phi^2$, $\lambda S g_f \Phi$ and $m_y g_f \Phi$. The new conditions are

$$g_f^2 \gtrsim \lambda \lambda_f , \qquad g_f \Phi \gtrsim \lambda S , \qquad g_f \Phi \gtrsim m_h ,$$

$$(4.5)$$

where we have already simplified some redundant conditions by taking into account that $m_y \leq M$ and $\lambda_f \ll \lambda$.

Finally taking values of Φ which are such that $g_f \Phi \leq M$, the same rule of thumb that off-diagonal terms should be less than M^2 gives the only additional conditions

$$g_f \Phi \lesssim \frac{M^2}{m_h} , \qquad \lambda S \lesssim M .$$
 (4.6)

The two conditions $g_f \Phi \gtrsim m_h$ and $g_f \Phi \lesssim M^2/m_h$ together imply that the inflationary trajectory does not cross a tachyonic region only if

$$M \gtrsim m_h$$
 . (4.7)

Note that this condition implies that the mass of the inflaton after inflation lies within the regime of validity of the effective theory where the messengers have been integrated out.

All in all the no-tachyon constraints are

$$M \gtrsim m_h$$
, $\lambda S \lesssim M + g_f \Phi$, $g_f^2 \gtrsim \lambda \lambda_f$, $M^2 \gtrsim |\lambda f_0|$. (4.8)

These are indeed the conditions we had been imposing on the EFT of the previous section, once the UV parameters are matched to the effective theory, as we will see in the next subsection.

⁷More specifically we can further assume that the diagonal terms are dominated by the term $|M + g_f \Phi|^2$. We can then distinguish two regimes, when $\Phi \gg M/g_f$ and when $\Phi \ll M/g_f$.

4.2 Integrating out the messengers

We now integrate out the messengers in order to make contact with the low-energy effective theory discussed in the previous section. Assuming that we are far away from the tachyonic regions, we can integrate out the messenger in a SUSY fashion, obtaining the one-loop Kähler potential directly [54, 55]. This can be further simplified by treating the terms proportional to λS and m_y as perturbations with respect to the dominant mass term proportional to $M + g_f \Phi$. The one-loop Kähler potential thus involves, when expanded in S, the following terms

$$K_{1-\text{loop}} = -\frac{N_m \lambda^4 (SS^{\dagger})^2}{12(8\pi^2)|M + g_f \Phi|^2} - \frac{N_m \lambda^2}{2(8\pi^2)} SS^{\dagger} \log[\frac{|M + g_f \Phi|^2}{M_p^2}]$$

$$-\frac{N_m \lambda m_y}{2(8\pi^2)} \left(\frac{S^{\dagger} (M + g_f \Phi)^2 + h.c.}{|M + g_f \Phi|^2}\right) + \frac{N_m m_y \lambda^3}{12(8\pi^2)} SS^{\dagger} \left(\frac{S}{(M + g_f \Phi)^2} + h.c.\right)$$
(4.9)

where N_m is the number of copies of the system composed of the X, \tilde{X}, Y and \tilde{Y} superfields. We actually have $N_m = 5N_5$, taking into account that the messengers come in representations 5 and $\bar{5}$. Note that there are also one-loop terms dependent only on S or only on Φ , that we omitted since they just represent loop-suppressed corrections to the canonical terms. The expression is expanded at first order in $m_y/(M + g_f \Phi)$.

The first term in (4.9) corresponds to the higher dimensional correction that we considered in the EFT description (see Eq. (3.1)) and is the one giving a mass to the sgoldstino. The other terms are other one-loop corrections which are allowed by symmetries and indeed can be generically added to the effective Kähler potential in (3.1). The second term in the first line is simply a sub-leading correction to the canonical kinetic term for the sgoldstino, which depends on the inflaton φ only at order $O(g_t^2)$.

The second line is suppressed by a factor of m_y/M and as soon as $m_y < M$ it is not relevant for the inflaton trajectory. However, these terms include the leading order operator that determines the decay of the inflaton in the sgoldstino, and are hence important later on in our analysis. Moreover, they lead to a VEV for the sgoldstino also in the non-SUSY vacuum of the (rigid) theory at the end of inflation, which scales as $\langle s \rangle \sim \frac{m_y}{\sqrt{2\lambda}}$. Note that for m_y close to M, which will be needed in order to have sizable gluino masses, the sgoldstino VEV could become a relevant contribution to the inflaton mass which is now $m_{\varphi} \simeq 2m_h + 2\lambda_f \langle S \rangle$. We will comment later about this fact and we will show that in the interesting region of the parameter space this contribution is always negligible so that we can simply take $m_{\varphi} \simeq 2m_h$, as in the discussion of section 3.2.

As a consistency check, we verified numerically on the benchmarks considered in the following analysis, that these extra Kähler corrections play a negligible role in the determination of the inflaton trajectory in the $S - \Phi$ plane, and the first term in (4.9) is enough to capture the main features.

Comparing (4.9) with (3.1), we see that we can identify

$$\Lambda_0 + g\Phi = \frac{\sqrt{6}(4\pi)}{\sqrt{N_m}\lambda^2} (M + g_f \Phi) .$$
 (4.10)

As a consequence, the effective theory parameters Λ_0 and g are related to the UV messenger theory parameters M and g_f by

$$\Lambda_0 = \frac{\sqrt{6}(4\pi)}{\sqrt{N_m}\lambda^2} M , \qquad g = \frac{\sqrt{6}(4\pi)}{\sqrt{N_m}\lambda^2} g_f . \qquad (4.11)$$

We see that, as it is usually the case, the UV scale of the effective theory, and its coupling g, are somewhat larger than the messenger masses, and their coupling to the inflaton, respectively. This has to be taken into account when comparing the inequalities keeping us within the validity of the effective theory, to the ones keeping us away from the tachyonic domain of the UV theory. In particular, if we use the matching (4.11) to compare the inequalities that we have obtained in the EFT analysis in Section 3 (Eq. (3.9) and Eq. (3.10)) and the ones that we have obtained by demanding absence of tachyons in the UV theory in Section 4.1 (Eq. (4.8)), we find that the former are typically weaker. Hence in the following we will consider the dynamics of the UV completed model and we will apply the conditions (4.8).

4.3 Low-energy spectrum and gauge mediation

We now discuss the spectrum of the model, both during inflation and at the end of it. This will help setting the scale of some of the parameters of the model. From the inflationary sector we have the inflaton, together with its bosonic and fermionic partners. In the SUSY breaking sector, we have the gravitino and the sgoldstino. Eventually, we have the visible sector: we no longer consider the messengers, however their mass scale affects the visible sector soft masses through gauge mediation.

Let us start with the inflationary sector. We concentrate here on the spectrum after inflation, which determines how much this sector could be relevant also to collider physics. Near the origin of Φ , the SUSY mass of all its components is controlled by m_h . The SUSY breaking splittings are given by $\lambda_f f_0$, which is smaller than m_h^2 by virtue of the condition (3.8) to avoid tachyons in this sector.

In the S sector, we can consider the mass of the gravitino and the mass of the soldstino. Note that the splitting between the latter two masses is all important for the viability of a soldstino-less description of inflation in supergravity. Indeed, we

need to find the existence of a regime in which the gravitino is well below the scale of inflation (so that a supergravity description is justified) while the sgoldstino is above that scale, so that it makes sense to integrate it out (using a nilpotent superfield from the outset, for instance).

The mass of the gravitino is given by the standard SUGRA expression

$$m_{3/2}^2 = e^{\frac{K}{M_p^2}} \frac{|W|^2}{M_p^4} \simeq \left| \frac{h_0}{M_p} - m_h \frac{\Phi^2}{M_p^2} \right|^2 , \qquad (4.12)$$

where we have used the fact that in all regimes $h(\Phi) \gg Sf(\Phi)/M_p$. (In the large Φ regime, one uses (3.5) to obtain $S \sim M_p \frac{g^2 m_h}{m_f}$, under the only assumption $m_f \gg m_h$.) During inflation, the Φ -dependent term will dominate, but given that Φ is Planckian at most, we will have $m_{3/2} \leq m_h$, indeed smaller than the scale of inflation which is determined by m_f . At the end of inflation, the gravitino mass is given as usual by

$$m_{3/2} \simeq \frac{f_0}{\sqrt{3}M_p}$$
 (4.13)

In low scale SUSY breaking models, this will be the smallest scale.

The soldstino mass is controlled by the quartic term in the Kähler potential (4.9). It gives a mass

$$m_s^2 = \frac{N_m \lambda^4 |f_0 - \lambda_f \Phi^2|^2}{3(8\pi^2)|M + g_f \Phi|^2} .$$
(4.14)

During inflation, i.e. for large Φ , we have

$$m_s \simeq \frac{\sqrt{N_m} \lambda^2 \lambda_f \Phi}{\sqrt{6}(2\pi)g_f} = 2m_f \frac{\Phi}{gM_p} . \qquad (4.15)$$

Thus as long as $\Phi > gM_p$ the soldstino mass is larger than the scale of inflation, allowing to integrate it out (as in a nilpotent formulation). However we also see that by no means it decouples entirely from the spectrum, its effective mass soon plunging below m_f . Indeed, at the end of inflation the soldstino mass is

$$m_s \simeq \frac{\sqrt{N_m}\lambda^2 f_0}{\sqrt{6}(2\pi)M} . \tag{4.16}$$

As we will see instantly, this is at a scale just an order of magnitude larger than the soft masses of the visible sector.

Assuming gauge mediation of SUSY breaking to be exclusively operated through the messengers which also couple to the inflaton, the soft masses of the visible sector can be completely determined. We note that the expressions are complicated by the presence of several parameters, such as m_y which is necessary to obtain non-zero gaugino masses [53]. The gaugino and sfermion masses scale similarly to the sgoldstino mass, where however the loop suppression is due to SM gauge couplings, and where the gaugino suffers from an extra suppression in power of m_y/M because of R-symmetry

$$m_{\rm sfermions}^2 \simeq \sum_i \frac{2N_5 C_2^i g_{SM(i)}^4 \lambda^2 |f_0 - \lambda_f \Phi^2|^2}{(4\pi)^4 |M + g_f \Phi|^2} , \qquad m_{\rm gaugino}^{(i)} \simeq \frac{N_5 g_{SM(i)}^2 \lambda m_y |f_0 - \lambda_f \Phi^2|}{(4\pi)^2 |M + g_f \Phi|^2} . \tag{4.17}$$

In particular the sfermion masses are quite large during inflation, but eventually reduce to the usual value [53] after settling in the vacuum:⁸

$$m_{\rm sfermions}^2 \simeq \sum_i \frac{2N_5 C_2^i g_{SM(i)}^4 \lambda^2 f_0^2}{(4\pi)^4 M^2} , \qquad m_{\rm gaugino}^{(i)} \simeq \frac{N_5 g_{SM(i)}^2 \lambda m_y f_0}{(4\pi)^2 M^2} , \qquad (4.18)$$

where C_2^i are the quadratic Casimir of the sfermions and *i* runs over the SM gauge groups. These are the values that we will use in the phenomenological analysis in Section 5.

4.4 Analysis of the allowed parameter space

We can now combine all the consistency conditions in order to identify the allowed regions of parameter space and determine what are the typical mass scales of the relevant particles entering into the model, i.e. the inflaton, the sgoldstino, and the superpartners (we will consider as reference the gluino).

The model depends on many parameters, but eventually only few of them determine a qualitative difference in the physics outcome. We summarize here the relevant constraints on the parameters that we have encountered along our analysis:

• No tachyon condition in the UV model, arising from the analysis of the messenger mass matrix:

$$M \gtrsim m_h$$
, $\lambda S \lesssim M + g_f \Phi$, $g_f^2 \gtrsim \lambda \frac{m_f}{M_p}$, $M^2 \gtrsim |\lambda f_0|$. (4.19)

The condition on the sgoldstino VEV along the entire trajectory can be analyzed as we did for the EFT in (3.11) (see Appendix A), yielding

$$\lambda S \lesssim M + g_f \Phi \quad \Rightarrow \quad \left\{ f_0 \lesssim \frac{m_f}{\kappa M_p} M^2 \,, \, \frac{M^2}{\kappa M_p^2} \lesssim \frac{m_h}{m_f} \,, \, \frac{M}{M_p} \gtrsim \lambda \frac{m_h}{m_f} \right\} \,, \quad (4.20)$$

where $\kappa = \frac{N_m \lambda^4}{12(8\pi^2)}$. In practice, these conditions can be circumvented taking a strongly coupled hidden and messenger sector, for which no perturbative analysis can be done, leaving us with the EFT treatment of the previous section.

⁸We neglect RG running effects.

• No tachyons in the effective theory, i.e. the inflaton sector:

$$m_h^2 > \frac{3\alpha f_0 m_f}{2M_p}$$
 (4.21)

It is not straightforward to extract from this set of inequalities what is the allowed volume in the parameter space. So, in order to investigate the allowed region, we can proceed by fixing some parameters to typical values and plot the resulting region. Once we fix the dimensionless quantities $(\lambda, g_f, N_5, \frac{m_y}{M})$ and we take $m_f \sim 10^{-5} M_p$ as suggested by the analysis in Figure 1, we are left with only 3 independent parameters, i.e. $\{f_0, M, m_h\}$. We can trade two of these parameters with physical masses to conclude that our parameter space is a region in the three dimensional space spanned by $\{m_\lambda, m_{3/2}, m_h\}$, where we indicated with m_λ the gluino mass.

The allowed region of parameter space can then be easily displayed in the $\{m_{3/2}, m_h\}$ plane by fixing m_{λ} to some phenomenologically interesting value, as we do in Figure 2. We considered as upper limit for the gravitino mass the value of 1 GeV since we want to focus on the case where the gauge mediated contributions to the soft masses dominate the gravity contributions.⁹

As we can observe, the allowed region in the $\{m_{3/2}, m_h\}$ plane gets smaller as we increase the gluino mass, disappearing completely (in the $m_{3/2} \leq 1$ GeV region) for $m_{\lambda} \geq 20$ TeV on the selected benchmark. Note that the two boundaries are set by the two conditions (where we have reinstated the exact numerical prefactor for added precision):

$$\frac{M}{M_p} > \lambda \sqrt{2} \frac{m_h}{m_f} \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \text{Upper border} , \qquad (4.22)$$

$$m_h^2 > \frac{3\alpha f_0 m_f}{2M_p} \implies \text{Lower border}.$$
 (4.23)

We can saturate these inequalities to find the expressions $m_h^{(up)}$ and $m_h^{(low)}$ which determine the upper and lower lines of the triangle shaped allowed regions in Figure 2.

It is instructive to consider the tip of the triangles, giving the lowest allowed values for the gravitino mass (and the inflaton mass), for a given gluino mass. It is simply obtained by saturating the two inequalities above. Using (4.13) and (4.18) we get:

$$m_{3/2}^{\rm tip} = \sqrt{3}\alpha \left(\frac{(4\pi)^2}{N_5 g_{SM}^2}\right)^2 \left(\frac{M}{m_y}\right)^2 \frac{m_\lambda^2}{m_f} \ . \tag{4.24}$$

⁹In producing the plot, we also imposed $M \leq 10^{15} \text{GeV}$.



Figure 2. Allowed region of parameter space in the $\{m_{3/2}, m_h\}$ plane by fixing $m_{\lambda} = 1, 3, 10$ TeV respectively for the light red, purple, blue region. The dashed lines represent the line defined in equation (5.1) for the different gluino masses. The other parameters are fixed as $\{\frac{m_y}{M} = 0.15, \lambda = 0.25, N_5 = 3, g_f = 2 \times 10^{-3}, \alpha = 1/3, m_f = 7.3 \times 10^{-6} M_p\}$.

This is to be confronted with the lowest gravitino mass that one could obtain in our gauge mediated model, considered on its own, given by the bound (4.4):

$$m_{3/2}^{\text{lowest,GMSB}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}\lambda} \left(\frac{(4\pi)^2}{N_5 g_{SM}^2}\right)^2 \left(\frac{M}{m_y}\right)^2 \frac{m_\lambda^2}{M_p} \,. \tag{4.25}$$

We thus see that

$$m_{3/2}^{\rm tip} = 3\alpha \lambda \frac{M_p}{m_f} m_{3/2}^{\rm lowest,GMSB} , \qquad (4.26)$$

that is we are roughly 5 orders of magnitude above the lowest gravitino masses generically allowed by GMSB.¹⁰ In other words, the scale of supersymmetry breaking cannot

 $^{^{10}}$ We can actually trace back this bound to one of the conditions in (4.20), specifically the one

be as low as we could hope in a GMSB scenario. Putting numbers, and using the benchmark point of Figure 2, we get

$$m_{3/2}^{\text{tip}} \simeq 2 \text{ MeV} \left(\frac{m_{\lambda}}{1 \text{ TeV}}\right)^2$$
 (4.27)

Thus we see that, for reasonable gluino masses, the gravitino cannot be lighter than a few MeV. This translates into a lowest supersymmetry breaking scale of the order of $\sqrt{f_0} \sim 10^8$ GeV, showing that for this class of weakly coupled models the scale of SUSY breaking cannot be arbitrarily small and compatible with sgoldstino-less inflation.

5 Phenomenological analysis

In order to simplify our analysis, from now on we will focus on the dashed lines in the middle of the triangles in Figure 2, which is the average mean defined as

$$m_h^* = \sqrt{m_h^{(up)} m_h^{(low)}} ,$$
 (5.1)

which determines m_h for a given value of the other parameters. In this way we are reduced to a two dimensional parameter space spanned by $\{m_{3/2}, m_{\lambda}\}$, in which we will present our phenomenological analysis.

Given that the model we have considered in the previous section includes predictions both for cosmology as well as for particle physics, we can constrain the parameter space using inflation observables, considerations about the reheating temperature, gravitino dark matter abundance, Big Bang nucleosynthesis (BBN), as well as LHC constraints. We discuss all these aspects in the next subsections under some simplifying assumptions. In particular, we do not take into account the extended Higgs sector and its possible effects on the phenomenology. Moreover, we consider the neutralino NLSP to be predominantly Bino, assuming that the μ parameter is such that the Higgsino is significantly heavier, and consistent with the estimates of the soft terms done previously (4.18). At the end of the section, we will comment on how our analysis would be affected if instead the NLSP neutralino is a mixture of Bino-Higgsino.

We will present all the phenomenological characterization in the $\{m_{3/2}, m_{\lambda}\}$ plane, restricting to the line (5.1) as just mentioned. We verified that exploring other areas of the allowed region in Figure 2 does not change qualitatively our conclusions.

Our investigation will show that, once we consider all bounds together, the remaining allowed parameter space gets significantly reduced. In particular our results highlight the complementarity of the different phenomenological constraints, suggesting

giving an upper bound to f_0/M^2 proportional to m_f/M_p .

that a broad approach to inflation models, including analysis of the reheating epoch as well as the connection to particle physics, is needed in order to extract robust conclusions and predictions.

5.1 Reheating temperature and n_s

Since in our model the couplings between the inflaton and the MSSM particles are well defined (up to the Higgs sector, that we do not specify), we can estimate the inflaton decay modes and the reheating temperature. This is relevant since the inflaton decays via messenger loops to MSSM particles and thus the reheating temperature will be low. A low reheating temperature corresponds to a relatively small number of e-folds during inflation, hence a sizeable shift in n_s compared to the usual estimate of 60 e-folds, as in [56, 57]. In addition, the gravitino problem is simpler to solve with a low reheating temperature [58, 59].

The reheating temperature can be found from the energy density at which the Hubble rate (H_{re}) equals the decay width of the inflaton (Γ_{ϕ}) [60]

$$\rho_{re} = 3H_{re}^2 M_p^2 = 3\Gamma_{\phi}^2 M_p^2 = \rho_{end} e^{-3N_{re}(1+\bar{w}_{re})} = \frac{\pi^2 g_*}{30} T_{re}^4, \tag{5.2}$$

where H_{re} is the Hubble rate at the end of reheating, $g_* \sim 220$ is the number of relativistic degrees of freedom at reheating, \bar{w}_{re} is the average equation of state during reheating and ρ_{end} is the energy density at the end of inflation. The third equality defines the number of e-folds during reheating (N_{re}) and the last equality the temperature T_{re} . Though the thermalization after the inflaton decay might take time and result in a lower reheating temperature, we will in the following stick to this upper bound. Finally, since our potential is quadratic around the minimum, $\bar{w}_{re} = 0$ [61, 62].

In the CMB we observe the modes at the pivot scale $k = 0.002 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$. During inflation this scale was the horizon size $(a_k H_k)$, so we can write [63]

$$\frac{k}{a_0H_0} = \frac{a_k}{a_{end}} \frac{a_{end}}{a_{re}} \frac{a_{re}}{a_{eq}} \frac{a_{eq}H_{eq}}{a_0H_0} \frac{H_k}{H_{eq}},$$
(5.3)

where the subscripts 'end', 'eq' and '0' correspond to the end of inflation, matterradiation equality and the current time respectively. Taking the logarithm of Eq. (5.3)gives us, after some manipulations, the number of e-folds during inflation as a function of the number of e-folds during reheating and other known constants [62]

$$N = \frac{1}{4}N_{re} - \log\left(\frac{k}{a_0T_0}\right) - \frac{1}{4}\log\left(\frac{30}{g_*\pi^2}\right) - \frac{1}{3}\log\left(\frac{11g_*}{43}\right) - \frac{1}{4}\log\left(\frac{3}{2}\frac{V_{end}}{M_p^4}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{\pi^2 rA_s}{2}\right)$$
(5.4)



Figure 3. From left to right, the dependence on the reheating temperature of n_s , N and m_f for different values of α . The straight black line represents our scenario with $\alpha = 1/3$, while the blue and red dotted lines represent resp. $\alpha = 1, 10$.

Note that this is an implicit equation since r depends on N as shown in Eq. (3.15). This relation can be solved for the reheating temperature, resulting in

$$T_{re} = \frac{495\sqrt{3}}{43\pi^2\sqrt{2A_s\alpha}} M_p \left(\frac{k}{a_0 T_0}\right)^3 \left(\frac{4+\sqrt{16+3\alpha}-\sqrt{3\alpha}}{4+\sqrt{16+3\alpha}+\sqrt{3\alpha}}\right)^4 \left(N+\mathcal{O}\left(N^0\right)\right) e^{3N}, \quad (5.5)$$

where again we used the 1/N expansion. A more careful analysis, keeping higher orders in N showed that in our model corrections to this equation are of the order of a percent. However, due to the exponential behaviour on the number of e-folds, a small deviation in this quantity changes the reheating temperature considerably.

In our model the reheating temperature can be computed from the inflaton decay width, and we use Eq. (5.4) to extract the expected number of e-folds. Then we plug this result in Eq. (3.15) and Eq. (3.16) to obtain precise predictions for n_s , r and m_f as a function of the reheating temperature. The results of this procedure are plotted in Fig. 3 for N, n_s and m_f . The tensor to scalar ratio, being $1/N^2$ suppressed, is roughly 0.002, far below the current experimental constraints.

We now discuss the most relevant decay modes of the inflaton and estimate its decay width to obtain the expected reheating temperature. The mass of the inflaton is taken to be $m_{\varphi} = 2m_h$, neglecting possible contributions from the sgoldstino VEV. We will verify that this is consistent on the considered region of the parameter space.

In the complete model there is no tree-level coupling between the inflaton and MSSM fields and the decay channels are loop suppressed. The leading decay mode arises from the following operator generated at one-loop (together with the operator responsible for the gluino masses)

$$W \supset \int d^2\theta \frac{\alpha_s N_5}{4\pi} \frac{g_f}{M} \Phi \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} , \qquad (5.6)$$

and it gives the following decay modes into gluons and gluinos

$$\Gamma_{\phi} \approx \Gamma_{\phi gg} + \Gamma_{\phi \tilde{g}\tilde{g}} = \frac{\alpha_s^2 N_5^2 g_f^2}{\pi^3 M^2} m_h^3 .$$
(5.7)

These are the dominant decay modes of the inflaton¹¹ and we approximate with this value the total decay width of the inflaton. Because of the one-loop suppression of this decay width the reheating temperature is rather low in our parameter space, of the order of the TeV scale,

$$T_{re} \simeq 900 \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{m_h}{200 \text{ TeV}}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{m_\lambda}{1 \text{ TeV}}\right) \left(\frac{20 \text{ MeV}}{m_{3/2}}\right)$$
(5.8)

where the numerical values of the parameters has been fixed as in Figure 2. Then, from Figure 3 we see that for $\alpha = 1/3$ the number of e-folds is about 48 – 49, and hence that n_s is rather small. We also note that the value of m_f is around $8 \times 10^{-6} M_p$, as the benchmark point we have chosen in the previous section.

5.2 Gravitino abundance

In this model the gravitino is the LSP and can be a viable dark matter candidate if $\Omega_{3/2}h^2 \simeq \Omega_{DM}h^2 = 0.12$ (see e.g. [64–67] for recent developments on gravitino dark matter). Neglecting possible dilution factors, we conservatively demand that the gravitino abundance does not overclose the universe by imposing $\Omega_{3/2}h^2 \leq \Omega_{DM}h^2$. Gravitino relics can be obtained with several mechanisms: i) thermal production; ii) freeze-in production through the superparticle decays; iii) production through inflaton decays; iv) decay of the NLSP, that here is assumed to be the Bino.

In the following we study these production mechanisms and we find the constraints they impose on the parameter space of the model:

¹¹The ones into sfermions are loop suppressed and the ones in other gauge bosons/gauginos are coupling suppressed.

- i) The reheating temperature for our range of parameters is at most of O(TeV), with gravitino at least of MeV mass, and hence the thermal production of gravitino is not significant [58, 59, 68]. We verified this explicitly in our numerical analysis.
- ii) The freeze-in scenario for gravitino dark matter has been proposed as a mechanism to obtain the correct gravitino relic abundance through the decay of the MSSM superparticles [68–71]. In our case the abundance of the heavy superparticles is suppressed by a Boltzmann factor, due to the low reheating temperature,¹² and hence we have to use the formula [69]

$$Y_{\text{freeze-in}} = \sum_{\tilde{X}} \frac{45\sqrt{90}g_{\tilde{X}}}{4\pi^5 g_*^{3/2}} \frac{\Gamma_{\tilde{X}} M_p}{m_{\tilde{X}}^2} \int_{x_{min}}^{x_{max}} K_1(x) x^3 \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (5.9)$$

where the sum runs over all the superparticles \tilde{X} , $g_{\tilde{X}}$ is the number of internal degrees of freedom of species \tilde{X} , $\Gamma_{\tilde{X}}$ is the partial decay width of \tilde{X} into gravitinos, K_1 is the first Bessel function and $x = m_{\tilde{X}}/T$ (where we suppressed the index \tilde{X}). The superparticle masses are much heavier than the current temperature of the universe, so we set $x_{max} = \infty$, however we cannot ignore the low reheating temperature, so $x_{min} = m_{\tilde{X}}/T_{re}$. We numerically perform this integral (though it can be done analytically), and demand this abundance to not exceed the dark matter one.

iii) The decay of the inflaton into gravitinos, or into supersymmetric particles eventually decaying into gravitinos, can give a large contribution to the gravitino relic abundance. In these processes the goldstino component of the gravitino is the one setting the relevant interactions.

The inflaton can decay directly into goldstinos or sgoldstinos through the interactions induced by the second line of (4.9). The second term in the second line in equation (4.9) determines the direct decay into goldstinos as

$$\Gamma_{\varphi \to GG} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left(\frac{N_m g_f \lambda^3 m_y}{48\pi^2 M^3 \sqrt{2}} f_0 \right)^2 m_{\varphi} , \qquad (5.10)$$

where $m_{\varphi} = 2m_h$ is the mass of the inflaton. This decay is very much suppressed compared to (5.7) but can nevertheless lead to an overabundance of gravitinos.

¹²In the period between the end of inflation and before the radiation dominated era, the temperature can be higher, and hence also the freeze-in contribution. However, the produced gravitinos get diluted before radiation starts dominating [72–74]. As a crude approximation, we neglect these two compensating effects.

Moreover, another relevant channel is the decay into sgoldstino, since in our parameter space we have $m_{\varphi} > m_s$. This decay mode has the same partial width as the one above, hence it can be important since the sgoldstino will decay mainly into goldstinos.

We estimate the abundance of gravitinos arising from these processes, assuming conservatively that the sgoldstino decays with 100% BR into two gravitinos, as

$$Y_{3/2}^{\text{decay}} \simeq \frac{3T_{re}}{4m_{\varphi}} \left(2\text{BR}_{\varphi \to GG} + 4\text{BR}_{\varphi \to s\sigma}\right) , \qquad (5.11)$$

where we included multiplicity factors. We impose that such abundance does not exceed the dark matter abundance.

Furthermore, decays of the inflaton into MSSM particles and eventually into the NLSP have sizable branching ratios. However, if the NLSP is in thermal equilibrium, its abundance will be set by the thermal bath dynamics. In order for the NSLP to be in thermal equilibrium we demand that the reheating temperature is larger than the NLSP mass, i.e. the Bino mass

$$T_{re} \gtrsim m_{\tilde{B}} . \tag{5.12}$$

iv) The abundance of the Bino in the case in which the other sparticles are very heavy has been computed in [75–77] and it depends on the slepton masses $m_{\tilde{l}}$, which we estimate in (4.18), and reads

$$\Omega_{\tilde{B}}h^2 = \frac{\left(m_{\tilde{B}}^2 + m_{\tilde{l}}^2\right)^4}{(460 \text{GeV})^2 \sqrt{g_*} m_{\tilde{B}}^2 \left(m_{\tilde{B}}^4 + m_{\tilde{l}}^4\right)} .$$
(5.13)

The abundance of the Bino will set the gravitino abundance obtained via Bino decay as

$$\Omega_{3/2}^{\tilde{B}}h^2 = \frac{m_{3/2}}{m_{\tilde{B}}}\Omega_{\tilde{B}}h^2 .$$
(5.14)

In our analysis we will demand that $\Omega_{3/2}^{\tilde{B}}h^2 \lesssim \Omega_{DM}h^2$.

The gravitinos produced by any of the processes aforementioned could potentially carry a large energy (at most $m_{\varphi}/2$). A too high free-streaming length of the gravitino could thus destroy small scale structures and is experimentally constrained [78]. Since in our model the inflaton mass is very low (compared to other inflation models), we find, using results of [79] that this does not constrain our parameter space.

5.3 BBN

Late decays of the NLSP into gravitinos can spoil BBN if the decay time is larger than $\sim 0.1s$ [80, 81]. This poses an absolute lower bound in the $(m_{3/2}, m_{\lambda})$ plane given by the requirement

$$\tau_{\tilde{B}} \simeq \Gamma_{\tilde{B} \to \gamma/Z+G}^{-1} \simeq \frac{48\pi m_{3/2}^2 M_p^2}{m_{\tilde{B}}^5} \simeq 0.1 \, \sec\left(\frac{m_{3/2}}{10 \,\mathrm{MeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{225 \,\mathrm{GeV}}{m_{\tilde{B}}}\right)^5 \le 0.1 \, \mathrm{sec} \, . \tag{5.15}$$

5.4 Combination of the cosmological and LHC constraints

We can now combine all the constraints listed above in one single plot which highlights the viable region in the parameter space of the model in the $(m_{3/2}, m_{\lambda})$ plane. As mentioned, we restrict to the dashed line in Figure 2 for definitess (cfr. (5.1)).

In Figure 4 we show our results for a representative choice of the numerical parameters, which however does not influence the qualitative features of the conclusions.¹³ The black region is excluded because of tachyons in the spectrum, and corresponds in the plot of Figure 2 to going beyond the tip of the allowed conical region along the dashed lines. The purple region is excluded because of the BBN constraint on the Bino decay time in (5.15). The red region is excluded since the gravitino abundance exceeds the one expected for dark matter because of inflaton decay (above the dashed blue line), because of Bino decay (the region on the right of the dashed green line), or because of a combination of these two mechanisms. The freeze-in contribution to gravitino abundance, instead, turns out not to be relevant on the explored parameter space.

The allowed region passing all the constraints is the white spiky region. On the border between the white and the red regions the gravitino has the correct relic abundance to be the dark matter of the universe. In the rest of the white region dark matter can be constituted by some other particle in the hidden sector, e.g. as in [84].

We note that the gluino mass is bounded from above in the allowed region, and should be smaller than around 7 TeV for the choice of parameters in the plot. In the blue region the gluino mass is below 2 TeV, and hence excluded by the LHC bound.¹⁴ Similarly, also the gravitino mass has both a lower and an upper bound, spanning between a few MeV and half a GeV. In particular, it is interesting to see that the upper bounds on m_{λ} and $m_{3/2}$ are generated by a combination of the constraints from gravitino overabundance and BBN.

¹³One can verify numerically that in the explored region the inflaton mass is always given predominantly by $2m_h$, corroborating the previous statements.

¹⁴This estimate is very conservative since the actual bound depends on the decay mode of the gluino and on the rest of the SUSY spectrum.



Figure 4. Phenomenological constraints on the parameter space in the $\{m_{3/2}, m_{\lambda}\}$ plane by fixing m_h with the relation (5.1). The other parameters are fixed to the same numerical values as in Figure 2. The white region is the one satisfying all the constraints explained in the text. The black region is excluded because of tachyon conditions. The red and purple regions are not viable because of phenomenological constraints on gravitino abundance or BBN, respectively. In the light blue region the gluino mass is lower than 2 TeV, the current LHC bound [82, 83]. The contours denote the spectral tilt n_s and the reheating temperature.

In Figure 4 we also show the contours of the inflation observable n_s , obtained after computing the reheating temperature and using the results of Figure 3. Since a larger n_s (hence larger reheating temperature) is favoured by the Planck data, it is interesting that both Planck and the LHC prefer the same region of parameter space, with larger gluino and gravitino mass. This is clearly a specific feature of the model considered, but it is appealing that two experiments probing completely different physics can provide indications on the same BSM theory.

Our results should be considered as a preliminary analysis of an illustrative model which combines inflation and particle physics predictions, and it emphasizes the interplay between these two sets of physical requirements in shaping viable scenarios.

Further remarks There are several aspects that we did not consider in our analysis and could be improved. First, in our model besides the inflaton there is another scalar field, the soldstino, that could potentially dominate the energy density of the universe at some stage of the cosmological evolution. This would be problematic given that the soldstino decays significantly into gravitinos, eventually leading to an overabundance of the latter. However we argue that this should not happen in the parameter space we explored for the following reasons, leaving a detailed analysis to future work. The scenario is very similar to curvaton models [85–87], with the soldstino playing the role of the curvaton. First, as one can check explicitly, the decay width of the soldstino is of similar order of magnitude of the decay width of the inflaton for our numerical values used for Figure 4. Moreover, the field excursion of the sgoldstino VEV is much smaller than the inflaton one, being constrained to be smaller than $M + q_f \phi$ to avoid tachyons, and being concretely always smaller than M along the entire inflaton trajectory (which can be inferred from formula (A.1) and condition (A.4) in Appendix A). These two observations can be confronted with the results of [88] which consider the contribution to post-inflationary evolution of simple curvaton models for a range of parameters. Our soldstino scenario can be argued to map to one where the curvaton never dominates the energy of the universe, though this question deserves clearly further dedicated study.

As already mentioned, we did not include possible effects from the extended SUSY Higgs sector and from the Higgsino, and we further assumed the Bino to be the NLSP. Note that if the neutralino NLSP would be instead mostly Higgsino-like the bounds from BBN (purple region) and from NLSP decay (the part of the red region on the right of the dashed green line) would be considerably softened since the abundance of the Higgsino-like neutralino is suppressed compared to the one of the Bino.

Concerning the gravitino abundance, we did not consider possible non thermal production arising during preheating [89]. The results of a recent paper [90] seem to indicate that our model, where $h(\Phi)$ is a quadratic function, should not be hindered by such effects, but a dedicated analysis should be performed to reach a definite conclusion. Generically, there can be other effects during the cosmological history of the universe, in particular in the (p)reheating epoch, that would eventually lead to additional gravitino production mechanisms which would impact significantly the outcome of our analysis. We leave for future studies a more thorough study of the gravitino problem. However, we argue that our results already hint at the possibility that the gravitino problem can be more easily circumvented in this class of models, due to the low reheating temperature, which is an intrinsic property of our model, in particular of the coupling of the inflaton to the supersymmetry breaking mechanism.

6 Discussion

In this paper we have addressed the issue of the compatibility of nilpotent inflation with low-scale SUSY breaking. The nilpotent approach simplifies many aspects of the supergravity embedding of inflation since the sgoldstino is taken to be integrated out and its dynamics can be neglected.

We consider a class of models in which the sgoldstino is present but has a mass, given by a higher dimensional effective operator, and we have investigated under which conditions this massive sgoldstino is always effectively decoupled from the physics of inflation. Specializing to a field theoretic weakly coupled UV completion of the SUSY breaking sector, which we take to have a non-trivial coupling to the inflaton, we find that the scale of SUSY breaking cannot be as low as one could expect, for instance, in gauge mediated models. This can be intuitively understood as follows: low SUSY breaking scales lead generically to a light sgoldstino, and it becomes more difficult to decouple the latter from inflation physics. The constraints are in practice more complicated, but they can be nicely summarized as in Figure 2.

An important remark concerns the implications of our results on the regime of validity of generic nilpotent inflation models. These can encompass various different choices, concerning on one side the inflationary supergravity model, and on the other the type of SUSY breaking dynamics and mediation. Most notably the coupling between two physical set-ups will be important, as in our model. Indeed, in [32] a variety of models were considered, both for inflation and for SUSY breaking, but no inflaton-dependence was contemplated in the operator giving the sgoldstino its mass. This resulted in very stringent bounds on the scale of SUSY breaking. Our findings relax these bounds, but nevertheless we cannot explore all of the potential parameter space of the SUSY breaking and mediation scales while staying at weak coupling.

It may well be that generalizing even more the types of models we can push further down the bounds on the gravitino mass and the SUSY breaking scale. Note however that our choice of inflationary sector, the α -attractor, is already very flexible in itself. As for the SUSY breaking sector, its effective parametrization as in Section 3 allowed us to derive a crude approximation of the bounds, that we found using the increased precision of the weakly coupled UV complete model for definiteness. One way to try to overcome these bounds is to take strongly coupled SUSY breaking and messenger sectors. Here we could hope to explore the other valid regions of parameter space that open up in the EFT.

The specification of the UV model, and in particular of the couplings between the inflaton and fields involved in SUSY breaking, has a positive side. It has allowed us to discuss in some detail the physics of inflation, including reheating and dark matter

abundance bounds, and confront it with collider bounds on superpartner masses. The complementarity of these bounds is manifest in Figure 4. The result is actually that our model is quite predictive, both for inflation observables (low spectral tilt n_s and reheating temperature) and for collider ones (upper and lower bounds on the gluino and gravitino masses). A different UV completion would certainly change the details, and the outcome of the analysis. We believe however that we have shown how to proceed in such a task.

To conclude, we would like to convey the message that nilpotent inflation can be compatible with low scales of SUSY breaking only with an increasing number of conditions on its UV completion. We do not seem to reasonably expect it to allow for arbitrarily low scales, i.e. as for a GMSB scenario with eV-scale gravitino. On the other hand, once a UV completion is specified, such models lead to a complete and complementary characterization of cosmological and collider observables, thus confirming the expectation that inflation and SUSY breaking are intimately tied together.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank M. Bertolini, W. Buchmüller, F. D'Eramo, E. Dudas, D. Redigolo, C. Ringeval, D. Roest, M. Tytgat and B. Vercnocke for discussions. This research has been supported in part by IISN-Belgium (convention 4.4503.15). R.A. is a Senior Research Associate of the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique-F.N.R.S. (Belgium). The work of L.H. is funded by the Belgian Federal Science Policy through the Interuniversity Attraction Pole P7/37. A.M. is supported by the Strategic Research Program High Energy Physics and the Research Council of the Vrije Universiteit Brussel.

A Analysis of sgoldstino VEV and EFT validity

In this appendix we give more details on the analysis of the constraint on the sgoldstino VEV. As explained in Section 3, the inflationary trajectory spans the space of $\text{Im}(\Phi)$ with $\text{Re}(\Phi) = \text{Im}(S) = 0$ while the real part of the sgoldstino is given by equation (3.5). The condition $\langle S \rangle \ll \Lambda_{\text{eff}}(\Phi)$ is quite involved to solve analytically given the different terms entering into the expression for the sgoldstino VEV (3.5). We will discuss various limits for this expression to extract the relevant inequalities such that the validity of the effective theory is guaranteed along the entire inflationary trajectory. We first analyze the two extrema of the inflaton trejectory. For small φ the sgoldstino VEV is Planck suppressed and scales as $\langle s \rangle \sim \frac{\Lambda_0^2}{M_{\pi}}$, hence the EFT condition is trivially satisfied.¹⁵ For

¹⁵Here we neglect corrections due to a non-zero m_y in the UV theory, which are in any case relevant only at the end of the trajectory.

very large inflaton, when $\varphi \sim M_p$, the soldstino VEV scales as $\langle s \rangle \sim \frac{m_h}{m_f} g^2 M_p$. Here we have assumed that $m_h \ll m_f$, since we have indeed the freedom to decouple the scale of the inflaton mass from the scale of inflation itself. We will see instantly that this hierarchy is actually a requirement. The condition $\langle s \rangle \ll g\varphi \sim gM_p$ hence gives $g \ll \frac{m_f}{m_h}$ which is trivially satisfied. The two extrema of the φ excursion are hence within the EFT validity range.

We now have to investigate the rest of the φ trajectory. A good estimate to understand the possible regimes of validity and the constraints on the parameters can be obtained by expanding both numerator and denominator in (3.5) in some approximation. The largest scale of the model is m_f that will set the energy scale of inflation, as illustrated in Section 3. We then expand the sgoldstino VEV at leading order in $\frac{\rho}{M_p}$, where ρ is any dimensionful parameter except m_f , and at second order in $\frac{m_f}{M_p}$,¹⁶ getting

$$\langle s \rangle = \frac{\frac{2\sqrt{6}f_0^2}{3M_p} - \frac{2\sqrt{2}m_f m_h \varphi^2}{3\alpha M_p}}{\frac{2m_f^2 \varphi^2}{3\alpha M_p^2} + \frac{(2f_0 + \frac{m_f \varphi^2}{M_p})^2}{\Lambda_0^2 + \frac{q^2}{2} \varphi^2}} .$$
(A.1)

We should compare this VEV with the scale giving the upper bound on the validity of the effective theory, i.e. $\sqrt{\Lambda_0^2 + \frac{g^2}{2}\varphi^2}$. From now on we omit any numerical O(1)coefficient (including α) for simplicity of the discussion; they can be reinserted easily by inspecting the expression (A.1).

There are several critical values along the inflaton trajectory where the sgoldstino VEV changes behavior as a function of φ . These are the values where the different terms in (A.1) change from subleading to dominant, which are

$$\varphi^2 \sim \frac{f_0^2}{m_f m_h} , \frac{f_0^2 M_p^2}{\Lambda_0^2 m_f^2} , \frac{f_0 M_p}{m_f} , \frac{\Lambda_0^2}{g^2} ,$$
 (A.2)

where the last one determines also a change in the EFT validity scale. In determining these critical values we have made the crucial assumption that they are ordered as in (A.2) in increasing size. Indeed the assumption $\frac{\Lambda_0^2}{g^2} \gg \frac{f_0 M_p}{m_f}$ implies that the next relevant scale for the behaviour in the denominator is $\frac{f_0^2 M_p^2}{\Lambda_0^2 m_f^2}$. This is smaller than $\frac{f_0 M_p}{m_f}$ if we further impose $f_0 \ll \frac{m_f \Lambda_0^2}{M_p}$. The first ordering on the left in (A.2) also requires a further assumption. All in all the choice of ordering of the critical values as in (A.2) leads to the following inequalities

$$f_0 \ll \frac{m_f}{M_p} \Lambda_0^2 , \qquad \qquad \frac{\Lambda_0^2}{M_p^2} \ll \frac{m_h}{m_f} .$$
 (A.3)

¹⁶This is equivalent to assuming that the expansion parameter is $\epsilon \sim \frac{\rho}{M_p} \sim \frac{m_f^2}{M_p^2}$.

Now we can proceed identifying the inequalities that the parameters should satisfy in order for the sgoldstino VEV to be within the EFT validity regime, in all the five intervals defined by the critical values in (A.2) from $\varphi \sim 0$ to $\varphi \sim M_p$.

Analyzing all the intervals one finds that the complete set of inequalities is¹⁷

$$f_0 \ll \frac{\Lambda_0^2 m_f}{M_p}$$
, $\frac{\Lambda_0^2}{M_p^2} \ll \frac{m_h}{m_f}$, $\frac{\Lambda_0}{M_p} \gg \frac{m_h}{m_f}$. (A.4)

In particular the last inequality is the one emerging from the analysis of the regimes of validity in the various intervals. Note that it imposes an upper bound on the size of the quadratic term of the inflaton potential, resulting in an upper bound on the inflaton mass at the end of inflation, that will have important consequences for the phenomenology. Moreover, since $\Lambda_0 \ll M_p$, it also confirms that $m_h \ll m_f$.

We conclude by observing that by changing the assumptions on the ordering of the various turning points in (A.1), one can extend to other regions of parameter space where the EFT is still valid. This has indeed also been checked by randomly scanning over the various parameters. However, we have observed that restricting the scan to EFT parameters compatible with a weakly coupled UV completion as in section 4, the parameter space is cut out to the UV version of (A.4), that is (4.20). Hence our focus on this region.

References

- S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh, and A. Linde, Cosmology with Nilpotent Superfields, JHEP 10 (2014) 143, [arXiv:1408.4096].
- [2] G. Dall'Agata and F. Zwirner, On sgoldstino-less supergravity models of inflation, JHEP 12 (2014) 172, [arXiv:1411.2605].
- [3] A. Linde, D. Roest, and M. Scalisi, Inflation and Dark Energy with a Single Superfield, JCAP 1503 (2015) 017, [arXiv:1412.2790].
- [4] J. J. M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and D. Roest, Hyperbolic geometry of cosmological attractors, Phys. Rev. D92 (2015), no. 4 041301, [arXiv:1504.05557].
- Y. Kahn, D. A. Roberts, and J. Thaler, The goldstone and goldstino of supersymmetric inflation, JHEP 10 (2015) 001, [arXiv:1504.05958].
- [6] R. Kallosh, F. Quevedo, and A. M. Uranga, String Theory Realizations of the Nilpotent Goldstino, JHEP 12 (2015) 039, [arXiv:1507.07556].
- [7] E. Dudas, S. Ferrara, A. Kehagias, and A. Sagnotti, Properties of Nilpotent Supergravity, JHEP 09 (2015) 217, [arXiv:1507.07842].

¹⁷We always assume $g \ll 1$.

- [8] S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh, and J. Thaler, Cosmology with orthogonal nilpotent superfields, Phys. Rev. D93 (2016), no. 4 043516, [arXiv:1512.00545].
- J. J. M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh, and A. Linde, *Minimal supergravity inflation*, *Phys. Rev.* D93 (2016), no. 6 061301, [arXiv:1512.00546].
- [10] I. Garcia-Etxebarria, F. Quevedo, and R. Valandro, Global String Embeddings for the Nilpotent Goldstino, JHEP 02 (2016) 148, [arXiv:1512.06926].
- [11] S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh, A. Van Proeyen, and T. Wrase, *Linear Versus Non-linear Supersymmetry*, in General, JHEP 04 (2016) 065, [arXiv:1603.02653].
- [12] R. Kallosh and A. Linde, Cosmological Attractors and Asymptotic Freedom of the Inflaton Field, JCAP 1606 (2016), no. 06 047, [arXiv:1604.00444].
- [13] A. Linde, On inflation, cosmological constant, and SUSY breaking, JCAP 1611 (2016), no. 11 002, [arXiv:1608.00119].
- [14] E. McDonough and M. Scalisi, Inflation from Nilpotent Kähler Corrections, JCAP 1611 (2016), no. 11 028, [arXiv:1609.00364].
- [15] L. Aalsma, J. P. van der Schaar, and B. Vercnocke, Constrained Superfields on Metastable anti-D3-branes, arXiv:1703.05771.
- [16] F. Farakos and A. Kehagias, Decoupling Limits of sGoldstino Modes in Global and Local Supersymmetry, Phys. Lett. B724 (2013) 322–327, [arXiv:1302.0866].
- [17] I. Antoniadis, E. Dudas, S. Ferrara, and A. Sagnotti, The Volkov-Akulov-Starobinsky supergravity, Phys. Lett. B733 (2014) 32–35, [arXiv:1403.3269].
- [18] E. A. Bergshoeff, D. Z. Freedman, R. Kallosh, and A. Van Proeyen, *Pure de Sitter Supergravity*, *Phys. Rev.* D92 (2015), no. 8 085040, [arXiv:1507.08264]. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D93,no.6,069901(2016)].
- [19] D. V. Volkov and V. P. Akulov, Is the Neutrino a Goldstone Particle?, Phys. Lett. 46B (1973) 109–110.
- [20] M. Rocek, Linearizing the Volkov-Akulov Model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 41 (1978) 451–453.
- [21] U. Lindstrom and M. Rocek, Constrained Local Superfields, Phys. Rev. D19 (1979) 2300–2303.
- [22] R. Casalbuoni, S. De Curtis, D. Dominici, F. Feruglio, and R. Gatto, Nonlinear Realization of Supersymmetry Algebra From Supersymmetric Constraint, Phys. Lett. B220 (1989) 569–575.
- [23] Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, From Linear SUSY to Constrained Superfields, JHEP 09 (2009) 066, [arXiv:0907.2441].
- [24] A. Achucarro, S. Mooij, P. Ortiz, and M. Postma, Sgoldstino inflation, JCAP 1208 (2012) 013, [arXiv:1203.1907].

- [25] A. Borghese, D. Roest, and I. Zavala, A Geometric bound on F-term inflation, JHEP 09 (2012) 021, [arXiv:1203.2909].
- [26] S. Ferrara and D. Roest, General sGoldstino Inflation, JCAP 1610 (2016), no. 10 038, [arXiv:1608.03709].
- [27] S. V. Ketov and T. Terada, Inflation in supergravity with a single chiral superfield, Phys. Lett. B736 (2014) 272–277, [arXiv:1406.0252].
- [28] M. Kawasaki, M. Yamaguchi, and T. Yanagida, Natural chaotic inflation in supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 3572–3575, [hep-ph/0004243].
- [29] W. Buchmuller, E. Dudas, L. Heurtier, and C. Wieck, Large-Field Inflation and Supersymmetry Breaking, JHEP 09 (2014) 053, [arXiv:1407.0253].
- [30] W. Buchmuller, E. Dudas, L. Heurtier, A. Westphal, C. Wieck, and M. W. Winkler, Challenges for Large-Field Inflation and Moduli Stabilization, JHEP 04 (2015) 058, [arXiv:1501.05812].
- [31] E. Dudas and C. Wieck, Moduli backreaction and supersymmetry breaking in string-inspired inflation models, JHEP 10 (2015) 062, [arXiv:1506.01253].
- [32] E. Dudas, L. Heurtier, C. Wieck, and M. W. Winkler, UV Corrections in Sgoldstino-less Inflation, Phys. Lett. B759 (2016) 121–125, [arXiv:1601.03397].
- [33] G. F. Giudice and R. Rattazzi, Theories with gauge mediated supersymmetry breaking, Phys. Rept. 322 (1999) 419–499, [hep-ph/9801271].
- [34] M. Ibe and R. Kitano, Gauge mediation in supergravity and gravitino dark matter, Phys. Rev. D75 (2007) 055003, [hep-ph/0611111].
- [35] Y. Nakai and M. Sakai, Inflation and Gauge Mediation in Supersymmetric Gauge Theory, Prog. Theor. Phys. 125 (2011) 395–402, [arXiv:1004.2099].
- [36] K. Hamaguchi, R. Kitano, and F. Takahashi, Non-thermal Gravitino Dark Matter in Gauge Mediation, JHEP 09 (2009) 127, [arXiv:0908.0115].
- [37] K. Kamada, Y. Nakai, and M. Sakai, Inflation in Gauge Mediation and Gravitino Dark Matter, Prog. Theor. Phys. 126 (2011) 35–56, [arXiv:1103.5097].
- [38] H. Fukushima, R. Kitano, and F. Takahashi, Cosmologically viable gauge mediation, JHEP 02 (2013) 140, [arXiv:1209.1531].
- [39] H. Fukushima and R. Kitano, Gravitino thermal production revisited and a new cosmological scenario of gauge mediation, JHEP 01 (2014) 081, [arXiv:1311.6228].
- [40] R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and D. Roest, Large field inflation and double α -attractors, JHEP 08 (2014) 052, [arXiv:1405.3646].
- [41] R. Kallosh and A. Linde, Planck, LHC, and α-attractors, Phys. Rev. D91 (2015) 083528, [arXiv:1502.07733].

- [42] A. Linde, Single-field α-attractors, JCAP 1505 (2015) 003, [arXiv:1504.00663].
- [43] J. J. M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh, and A. Linde, Cosmological Attractors and Initial Conditions for Inflation, Phys. Rev. D92 (2015), no. 6 063519, [arXiv:1506.00936].
- [44] J. J. M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh, and A. Linde, α-Attractors: Planck, LHC and Dark Energy, JHEP 10 (2015) 147, [arXiv:1506.01708].
- [45] R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and D. Roest, Superconformal Inflationary α-Attractors, JHEP 11 (2013) 198, [arXiv:1311.0472].
- [46] J.-O. Gong and E. D. Stewart, The Density perturbation power spectrum to second order corrections in the slow roll expansion, Phys. Lett. B510 (2001) 1–9, [astro-ph/0101225].
- [47] D. Roest, Universality classes of inflation, JCAP 1401 (2014) 007, [arXiv:1309.1285].
- [48] Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A20, [arXiv:1502.02114].
- [49] BICEP2, Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Joint Analysis of BICEP2/Keck?Array and Planck Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 101301, [arXiv:1502.00612].
- [50] BICEP2, Keck Array Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Improved Constraints on Cosmology and Foregrounds from BICEP2 and Keck Array Cosmic Microwave Background Data with Inclusion of 95 GHz Band, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 031302, [arXiv:1510.09217].
- [51] R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and M. Scalisi, Inflation, de Sitter Landscape and Super-Higgs effect, JHEP 03 (2015) 111, [arXiv:1411.5671].
- [52] M. Scalisi, Cosmological α -attractors and de Sitter landscape, JHEP 12 (2015) 134, [arXiv:1506.01368].
- [53] R. Kitano, H. Ooguri, and Y. Ookouchi, Direct Mediation of Meta-Stable Supersymmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. D75 (2007) 045022, [hep-ph/0612139].
- [54] M. T. Grisaru, M. Rocek, and R. von Unge, *Effective Kahler potentials*, *Phys. Lett.* B383 (1996) 415–421, [hep-th/9605149].
- [55] K. A. Intriligator, N. Seiberg, and D. Shih, Dynamical SUSY breaking in meta-stable vacua, JHEP 04 (2006) 021, [hep-th/0602239].
- [56] J. Ellis, M. A. G. Garcia, D. V. Nanopoulos, and K. A. Olive, Calculations of Inflaton Decays and Reheating: with Applications to No-Scale Inflation Models, JCAP 1507 (2015), no. 07 050, [arXiv:1505.06986].
- [57] Y. Ueno and K. Yamamoto, Constraints on α-attractor inflation and reheating, Phys. Rev. D93 (2016), no. 8 083524, [arXiv:1602.07427].

- [58] A. de Gouvea, T. Moroi, and H. Murayama, Cosmology of supersymmetric models with low-energy gauge mediation, Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) 1281–1299, [hep-ph/9701244].
- [59] V. S. Rychkov and A. Strumia, Thermal production of gravitinos, Phys. Rev. D75 (2007) 075011, [hep-ph/0701104].
- [60] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, *Reheating after inflation*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **73** (1994) 3195–3198, [hep-th/9405187].
- [61] M. S. Turner, Coherent Scalar Field Oscillations in an Expanding Universe, Phys. Rev. D28 (1983) 1243.
- [62] J. B. Munoz and M. Kamionkowski, Equation-of-State Parameter for Reheating, Phys. Rev. D91 (2015), no. 4 043521, [arXiv:1412.0656].
- [63] A. R. Liddle and S. M. Leach, How long before the end of inflation were observable perturbations produced?, Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 103503, [astro-ph/0305263].
- [64] K. Benakli, Y. Chen, E. Dudas, and Y. Mambrini, A Minimal Model of Gravitino Dark Matter, arXiv:1701.06574.
- [65] E. Dudas, Y. Mambrini, and K. Olive, *The Case for an EeV Gravitino*, arXiv:1704.03008.
- [66] R. T. Co, F. D'Eramo, and L. J. Hall, Gravitino or Axino Dark Matter with Reheat Temperature as high as 10¹⁶ GeV, JHEP 03 (2017) 005, [arXiv:1611.05028].
- [67] R. T. Co, F. D'Eramo, L. J. Hall, and K. Harigaya, Saxion Cosmology for Thermalized Gravitino Dark Matter, arXiv:1703.09796.
- [68] T. Moroi, H. Murayama, and M. Yamaguchi, Cosmological constraints on the light stable gravitino, Phys. Lett. B303 (1993) 289–294.
- [69] L. J. Hall, K. Jedamzik, J. March-Russell, and S. M. West, Freeze-In Production of FIMP Dark Matter, JHEP 03 (2010) 080, [arXiv:0911.1120].
- [70] C. Cheung, G. Elor, and L. Hall, Gravitino Freeze-In, Phys. Rev. D84 (2011) 115021, [arXiv:1103.4394].
- [71] L. J. Hall, J. T. Ruderman, and T. Volansky, A Cosmological Upper Bound on Superpartner Masses, JHEP 02 (2015) 094, [arXiv:1302.2620].
- [72] G. F. Giudice, E. W. Kolb, and A. Riotto, Largest temperature of the radiation era and its cosmological implications, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001) 023508, [hep-ph/0005123].
- [73] A. Monteux and C. S. Shin, Thermal Goldstino Production with Low Reheating Temperatures, Phys. Rev. D92 (2015) 035002, [arXiv:1505.03149].
- [74] R. T. Co, F. D'Eramo, L. J. Hall, and D. Pappadopulo, Freeze-In Dark Matter with Displaced Signatures at Colliders, JCAP 1512 (2015), no. 12 024, [arXiv:1506.07532].

- [75] M. Drees and M. M. Nojiri, The Neutralino relic density in minimal N = 1 supergravity, Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 376–408, [hep-ph/9207234].
- [76] J. D. Wells, Supersymmetric dark matter with a cosmological constant, Phys. Lett. B443 (1998) 196–200, [hep-ph/9809504].
- [77] J. D. Wells, Mass density of neutralino dark matter, hep-ph/9708285. [Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys.21,269(2010)].
- [78] A. Boyarsky, J. Lesgourgues, O. Ruchayskiy, and M. Viel, Lyman-alpha constraints on warm and on warm-plus-cold dark matter models, JCAP 0905 (2009) 012, [arXiv:0812.0010].
- [79] F. Takahashi, Gravitino dark matter from inflaton decay, Phys. Lett. B660 (2008) 100–106, [arXiv:0705.0579].
- [80] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri, and T. Moroi, Big-Bang nucleosynthesis and hadronic decay of long-lived massive particles, Phys. Rev. D71 (2005) 083502, [astro-ph/0408426].
- [81] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri, T. Moroi, and A. Yotsuyanagi, Big-Bang Nucleosynthesis and Gravitino, Phys. Rev. D78 (2008) 065011, [arXiv:0804.3745].
- [82] ATLAS Collaboration, T. A. collaboration, Search for squarks and gluinos in final states with jets and missing transverse momentum using 36 fb⁻¹ of $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV pp collision data with the ATLAS detector, .
- [83] CMS Collaboration, C. Collaboration, Search for supersymmetry in multijet events with missing transverse momentum in proton-proton collisions at 13 TeV, .
- [84] S. Dimopoulos, G. F. Giudice, and A. Pomarol, Dark matter in theories of gauge mediated supersymmetry breaking, Phys. Lett. B389 (1996) 37–42, [hep-ph/9607225].
- [85] A. D. Linde and V. F. Mukhanov, Nongaussian isocurvature perturbations from inflation, Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) R535–R539, [astro-ph/9610219].
- [86] N. Bartolo and A. R. Liddle, The Simplest curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D65 (2002) 121301, [astro-ph/0203076].
- [87] V. Vennin, K. Koyama, and D. Wands, *Encyclopdia curvatonis*, JCAP 1511 (2015) 008, [arXiv:1507.07575].
- [88] R. J. Hardwick, V. Vennin, K. Koyama, and D. Wands, Constraining Curvatonic Reheating, JCAP 1608 (2016), no. 08 042, [arXiv:1606.01223].
- [89] G. F. Giudice, A. Riotto, and I. Tkachev, Thermal and nonthermal production of gravitinos in the early universe, JHEP 11 (1999) 036, [hep-ph/9911302].
- [90] F. Hasegawa, K. Mukaida, K. Nakayama, T. Terada, and Y. Yamada, Gravitino Problem in Minimal Supergravity Inflation, Phys. Lett. B767 (2017) 392–397, [arXiv:1701.03106].